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PREFACE


One of the landmark works of scholarship in the field of Celtic Studies in Ireland in the nineteenth century was the publication of the near-contemporary romantic biography of Brian Boru known as Cogadh Gáedhel re Gallaibh (‘The War of the Irish with the Vikings’). In the introduction, its editor, the remarkable Trinity College scholar James Henthorn Todd, made a plea for the publication of critical editions of the mediaeval Irish annals, stating:




Until these and other original sources of history are made accessible, it is vain to expect any sober or trustworthy history of Ireland; the old romantic notions of a golden age, so attractive to some minds, must continue to prevail; and there will still be firm believers in ‘the glories of Brian the brave,’ the lady who walked through Ireland unmolested in her gold and jewels, and the chivalrous feats of Finn Mac Cumhaill and his Fenians.1





Happily, in the century and a half since, great strides have been made in editing and making available the annals and a large volume of other documentary source material for mediaeval Ireland; and, indeed, thanks to the ground-breaking ‘CELT’ project of University College, Cork (Corpus of Electronic Texts, available at www.ucc.ie/celt/), anyone anywhere in the world who has a computer and an internet connection can gain access to a vast digital archive of this material, free of charge and almost instantaneously, in the comfort of their own home.


The publication of these primary sources has led to an explosion of secondary scholarship—books and articles written by professional historians and Celtic scholars—on the subject of mediaeval Ireland, grounded in the professional interrogation of these same source documents. And Todd’s hopes for a ‘sober or trustworthy history of Ireland,’ freed of ‘old romantic notions,’ have largely been realised.


But his misgivings about what he sarcastically called ‘the glories of Brian the brave’ stemmed from a belief that the popular image of Brian Boru was at variance with the reality. This is Brian the all-conquering, Viking-vanquishing champion who died in his hour of victory at the Battle of Clontarf, a victory seen as possibly the most glorious achievement by any Irishman through the ages. This is Brian the hero-figure who led his people to victory over their would-be Norse conquerors and secured their freedom from foreign oppression—as one respected author unequivocally put it, the leader of the Irish Resistance Movement.2


Brian Boru’s pre-eminence in Ireland’s royal pantheon is starkly obvious from the fact that of the fifty or so high-kings who reigned from the dawn of Irish history until the institution went into abeyance in the aftermath of the English invasion of the late twelfth century he is, sad to say, the only one who has wide name-recognition to this day. The Battle of Clontarf is similarly one of the few Irish battles—and the only mediaeval one—fixed in the public imagination and its date, 1014, one of the very few mediaeval dates that resonate for Irish people in a way that Hastings and 1066 do for our neighbours. Todd was writing a full half century before the 1916 Rising, but the Irish of his day viewed 1014 much as a later generation would view 1916: if the bloody execution of the leaders of the Easter Rising represented lives sacrificed in the cause of Ireland, so the Battle of Clontarf, taking place on Good Friday, had associations with Christian martyrdom in the form of King Brian’s death in his hour of victory over the heathen Norse.


Todd hoped for a more dispassionate assessment, which would scrape away later folklorish residues and get to the ‘real’ Brian. But progress since has been patchy, because, while historians continue to refine our understanding of the subject, theirs is a constant battle with the force of the dictum that when the legend becomes fact one prints the legend. And in the Google age, in the age of on-line wargame videos, of battle re-enactment mania, of the television and Hollywood historical drama, and in the age of the instant self-publishing novel, the legend of Brian has never been more alive.




The antidote to legend and folklore about Brian lies in Máire Ní Mhaonaigh’s admirable recent biography, Brian Boru: Ireland’s Greatest King? (2007), as there is no greater authority on contemporary Gaelic literature. As to Clontarf—the millennium of which is now upon us—in twenty years of teaching mediaeval Irish history in an Irish university the one question the writer has been asked more often than any other is the innocuous-sounding ‘So what really happened at the Battle of Clontarf?’ What follows is a long-winded attempt at an answer.


It is a straightforward political narrative. It situates Brian in the politics of Viking Age Ireland. It tells the story of the rise from relative obscurity of his North Munster dynasty of Dál Cais, of his own rapid ascent to national dominance and of the political transformation he wrought. It charts the inter-provincial struggle for supremacy that fed into his final great battle on Good Friday, 1014, in which he lost his life. And it examines the international context—the Second Viking Age—in which Clontarf was fought, when England was being conquered by the Danes under the family of King Knut, and the Norse of Dublin made their fatal gamble on breaking free from Brian’s overlordship. It examines the evidence to see what was at stake in 1014 and how it can be that Brian was victorious at Clontarf yet lost his own life.
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As this book goes to press within weeks of the millennial anniversary of the Battle of Clontarf, it is a pleasure to acknowledge the contribution of Dublin City Council to its production. The City Heritage Officer, Charles Duggan, has encouraged the project from its inception and obtained funding to enable me to secure additional leave in which to complete it. I am indebted to the City Archaeologist, Ruth Johnson, to Paul Clegg and Margaret Geraghty of Dublin City Council’s Culture, Recreation and Amenity Department, and to Elaine Mulvenny of the North-Central Area Office, who have also generously contributed funding. The then head of the Department of History at Trinity College Dublin, David Ditchburn, kindly facilitated teaching leave as the deadline loomed. Eoin O’Flynn and Denis Casey read a large chunk of the manuscript, spotting blunders and recommending changes. Fergal Tobin of Gill & Macmillan was all carrot and no stick on this outing, which seems to have done the trick. Field-trips to Brian’s home place were memorable and enjoyable in the company of Linzi Simpson and Sadhbh Duffy (who will be disappointed to find only passing references to her inspiration, Sadb iníon Bhriain, of whom she has heard much and expected more). Both women put up with my crankiness for months on end: I dedicate the book to them and promise to make amends.









INTRODUCTION


VIKING AGE IRELAND


Brian Bóraime (anglicised Brian Boru) was born in the second quarter of the tenth century into a kinship dynasty of which not a great deal had hitherto been heard and from which only the most far-seeing can have expected much. Brian’s people, who lived in the south-east corner of what is now Co. Clare, were the Uí Thairdelbaig, who were a branch of the Déis Tuaiscirt, better known as Dál Cais, who were a branch of the Déis Bec, who were a branch of the Déisi of Munster. Déisi means ‘vassals’: thus Brian’s people were a branch of a branch of a branch of a branch of people who were in any event only vassals of the kings of Munster.


It was not a great pedigree. True, promoters of Brian’s dynasty concocted a family tree to feign descent from the ancient kings of the province, but, to begin with at least, it cannot have fooled many. Yet Brian, and his brother Mathgamain before him, made themselves kings of Munster—quite an achievement. What is more, no king of Munster before Brian had gained general acceptance throughout the country as king of all Ireland, and yet he did—a truly remarkable achievement. To get the measure of that achievement we must consider the Ireland into which he was born.


EARLY IRELAND


The Celtic-speaking people who would eventually emerge into the light of history as the Irish arrived in the island perhaps only a few hundred years before the birth of Christ. Regrettably, these Iron Age people have left us nothing in writing until the fifth century AD, when we begin to find inscriptions using a system of symbols called ogham that takes the form of a series of lines and notches on standing-stones used as territorial markers or to commemorate the burial place of great men.1 The majority of the four hundred or so that survive are found stretching from the Dingle Peninsula through south Kerry, Cork and Waterford to Co. Carlow, but there are quite a number of Irish ogham stones in Wales, particularly south Wales, with lesser concentrations elsewhere, such as Devon and Cornwall.


While the ogham alphabet may have been derived from that of Latin, the language of the ogham inscriptions is Irish (although ogham stones from Wales have inscriptions in both Irish and Latin), and therefore they testify to Irish settlement in western Britain—presumably involving the conquest of territory and the military subjugation of peoples—and to Irish contact with this most western frontier of the Roman Empire. So, while Late Iron Age Ireland was not conquered by Rome and remained economically underdeveloped—it had no Roman roads, bridges or towns—it was by no means cut off from the outside world.


It is not surprising, therefore, that in the early years of the fifth century there were Christians in Ireland. We should perhaps expect this, given the extent of Ireland’s communication with western Britain, where there had been a Christian presence for several generations. The Irish colonies in Wales in particular were an obvious conduit if, say, some of those Laigin (Leinstermen) who gave their name to the Llŷn peninsula in west Wales converted and brought their new religion home, or if British Christians, perhaps with a knowledge of the Irish language from Irish settlers among them, ventured across the Irish Sea to spread the Word.


And of course the most famous of these early Christian missionaries was the Briton Patrick. To the evidence that we have of Irish colonies being established in this age on the west coast of Britain—from Argyll in the north to Cornwall in the south—we can add Patrick’s testimony that his own first encounter with Ireland was at the receiving end of Irish aggression when he was taken prisoner by Irish raiders from his father’s estate and brought as a captive to Ireland ‘with many thousands of people (tot milia hominum).’2


While others evangelised in the south of Ireland, Patrick’s mission was in the northern half of the island, and by the seventh century Armagh was gaining a position of prominence in the Irish church because of its purported foundation by Patrick: its churchmen argued that if Patrick was the Apostle of Ireland, and he chose Armagh as his special church, then the head of the church of Armagh was comarbae Pátraic (St Patrick’s heir) and Armagh should be the special church for all Ireland.3 Other churches, such as St Brigit’s great monastery at Kildare, might dispute this, but, armed with the best propagandists and allied to the dominant political dynasties, the claims of Armagh ultimately won out; and although its fortunes might fluctuate in line with those of its political sponsors, it gradually impressed its sense of its own primacy on the Irish in general.


Hence the fact, as we shall see later, that Brian Bóraime, a Munster king we should expect to find promoting the primatial claims of a Munster church, aligned himself closely to Armagh—and when he visited it in 1005 the great Book of Armagh, a collection of writings by and about Patrick, formed part of the pageant—even though Armagh lay firmly in the territory of his northern rivals. A man who would be king over all the Irish required a national ecclesiastical capital.


One of the Irish churches that vied with Armagh for pre-eminence was Iona, founded by St Colum Cille (Columba) in 563.4 As Iona is not actually in Ireland—it is a small island off a larger island (Mull) off the Atlantic seaboard of Scotland—this might at first seem surprising, especially given our modern tendency to regard the sea as something that cuts off rather than links up. But Colum Cille is also said to have founded the monastery of Derry, and it would have taken him a lot less time to travel by boat from there to Iona than overland from Derry to the third of his great foundations, at Durrow (Co. Offaly).


Neither should we think of Iona as being somehow foreign to Ireland. As no more than a dozen miles separate the Mull of Kintyre in Scotland from Fair Head in Ireland, we must envisage both land masses as having always shared populations. Furthermore, in the early Middle Ages a people called Dál Riata with a base in the north-east corner of Antrim came to dominate Mull and its neighbouring islands (including Iona) along with Islay and its neighbouring islands (including the Kintyre peninsula), as well as the adjacent parts of Argyll on the mainland. (The very name Argyll comes from Airer Goídel, ‘the coast of the Irish’).5 When, therefore, Colum Cille settled in Iona he was admittedly not in Ireland—in what the Irish called Ériu and Latin writers Hibernia or Scotia—but he was in Irish territory. He was a Goídel among his fellow-Goídil or, as Latin writers would have put it, a Scottus among fellow-Scotti, which explains how it was that when that Irish colony eventually smothered its Pictish neighbours to the north and east, and its British neighbours in Strathclyde to the south, and gained ascendency throughout northern Britain, it became the land of the Scotti, i.e. Scotia, and hence Scotland.


And hence too, as we shall see, the inscription written into the Book of Armagh to mark Brian Bóraime’s visit to the primatial city in 1005 records his title not as Rí Herend, ‘king of Ireland’, and not even as ‘emperor of Ireland’ but as Imperator Scotorum, ‘emperor of the Goídil’, who, of course, were not confined to the island of Ireland.


THE SHAPE OF SOCIETY


One of our brightest windows into early mediaeval Irish society is provided by a large body of law tracts, often called Brehon laws, from breithem, ‘a judge’, which survive from the late seventh, eighth and ninth centuries.6 These and other sources make it clear that in early Ireland individuals did not hold their land in their own right but rather as members of their kindred-group or fine. And at the time when the law tracts were being written the group that inherited and farmed land was not the modern conjugal family but a four-generation group called the ‘certain kindred (derbfhine)’, comprising the male descendants, in the male line, of a common great-grandfather. Females were not entirely unaccounted for: daughters could inherit movable goods, and they could also get a life interest in the family land if their father had no sons. The derbfhine held land jointly—and this was marked off from that of the neighbouring kin-group by fences and boundary stones—each member having an equal share of the family land; and with the passage of every generation the land was repartitioned between the surviving members so that each had an equivalent portion of good and bad land, arable, pasture, bog and so forth.


As we move closer to the time of Brian Bóraime it is likely that inheritance was confined to a closer male descent-group, the ‘bright kindred (gelfhine)’, comprising a man, his sons, and his sons’ sons. In either case the idealised image of early Ireland that is sometimes presented, with vast numbers of people holding land and property communally, is not valid: the gelfhine property-owning group of first cousins might only have two or three adult males and the derbfhine perhaps double that.




Early mediaeval Ireland was a hierarchy of aristocrats, their dependants, and their slaves. Slavery was common—so common that a female slave or cumal was a standard unit of value. A person could be born into slavery or condemned to such a life as punishment for a crime, or—which was how St Patrick ended up in Ireland—could find himself or herself enslaved as a consequence of war or rapine. Viking involvement in the slave market may have coloured attitudes to the practice among the Christian Irish, and formal slavery must surely have been in decline by Brian’s day, although contemporary sources from the period continue to lay heavy emphasis on the enslavement of people captured in war, and commentators on Ireland as late as (the admittedly biased) Giraldus Cambrensis in the late twelfth century still thought of it as a recent phenomenon.7


Needless to say, a slave owned no land, and the demands upon him or her were arbitrary and onerous, unlike the middle category of society, the commoner or non-lordly class, sometimes called the grád Fhéne, comprising those who owned or aspired to own land. An obsession with the classification of people by status meant that the laws prescribed different ranks of commoners—eight according to the law-tract on status called Crith Gablach—but it is not always clear that these are not just a lawyer’s insistence on rigid distinctions where the reality was more fluid. The disparity between individual grades was given definition by assigning to each an ‘honour price (lóg n-enech or eneclann)’, measuring the compensation payable for a legal offence against them, which was considered an insult to their enech (‘honour’, literally ‘face’). Thus, the mruigfher (‘man of cultivated land’), who may have been the equivalent of a well-to-do farmer, had an honour price of three milch cows, the honour price of the slightly less prosperous farmer in the bóaire (‘cow-freeman’) category was two-and-a-half milch cows, and that of a low-ranking fer midboth (‘between-house man’), who was in transition from being dependent on his father to acquiring his own place, was a two-year-old heifer.


A clear distinction was made between these commoners and a flaith, someone, like Brían Bóraime, of noble or princely rank—although barriers were to some extent porous, so that upward or downward mobility was possible over a number of generations. What distinguished them, while binding them together, was the institution of clientship (célsine). When we imagine the workings of feudalism in mediaeval Europe we think of a system in which lords held all the land and granted portions of it as fiefs to their vassals in return for rent or military aid or help with the harvest. In the Irish system the céle (‘client’) tended to have his own land by inheritance, and therefore what the lord gave him instead was usually cattle or other livestock and a promise of protection. In return the lord could expect his clients to render him a portion of the profits, in the form of meat or butter or cheese, or grain for his bread and ale, and to fulfil limited farm duties (the work not done by slaves and the semi-free) in, for instance, the lord’s reaping-party or meithel, and also to entertain the lord and his entourage at feasting times, especially during the lean months.


Within this system the preoccupation with hierarchy and status dictated that there were two levels of client: the ‘free’ client (sóerchéle) and the ‘base’ client (dóerchéle or céle giallnaí). Both were freemen, but the sóerchéle could choose when to terminate the relationship with his lord by handing back his stock, and in any event it was for a seven-year term, whereas the dóerchéle’s relationship of dependence normally ended only with the lord’s death; and if the base client predeceased his lord (or lords, as he could have more than one) the bond of clientship passed to his heirs.


And there were different grades of lord, whose status was determined by the number of clients they had. Thus the lowest-ranking lord, called ‘lord of vassalry (aire désa)’, had a minimum of five free and five base clients, whereas the lord of highest rank, called the ‘lord of superior testimony (aire forgill)’, had at least forty clients. Such an individual was considered nemed, a member of a privileged or sacred class, a class that also included clerics, poets and all those whose status was derived from their learning or skills, known collectively as áes dána (‘people of craft’).


Rank mattered here to the same if not a greater extent. There were seven grades of churchmen, from novices to bishops (the latter having the same honour price as a king), and there were seven grades of poet—based on the number of years spent mastering the different types of poetic metre—all the way up to the ollam or master poet, who likewise had an honour price equivalent to a king.




KINGSHIP AMONG THE IRISH


There are few subjects more critical to an understanding of the politics of mediaeval Ireland than the matter of kings and kingship, and few more complex or, consequently, more controversial.


The first point to grasp is that, as in all walks of life, nothing ever stays the same: the role and powers of Irish kings in the tenth century, when Brian was born, had changed considerably since the dawn of the historic age five centuries earlier. But the second point to grasp is that, again as in all walks of life, sometimes change comes slowly and sometimes dramatically. And Irish kingship, and therefore every facet of life affected by it (and that was most), changed dramatically and irrevocably during and because of Brian’s career.


All political communities have leaders, by popular acclamation or hereditary succession, and in early mediaeval Europe the leaders of even relatively small communities might be styled rex (‘king’), and might be chosen by their people. But powerful leaders have a vested interest both in establishing the hereditary principle and in denying grand titles to subordinates and potential rivals; and so over the centuries in Europe the term ‘king’ came to be restricted to the greater polities, usually national monarchies operating to a defined order of succession. The same forces are apparent in Ireland, although movement was slower.


The word used in Ireland for the basic unit of local political organisation was túath (Latin plebs); the population groups occupying the river valleys and the fertile plains and the major forest clearances throughout the land were túatha. Because of Ireland’s size and low population, and because stable farming communities do not encourage mobility, it would not be surprising if there were many ties of blood linking such communities, but it is important to note that the túath might have many strangers living within it, and it was not therefore a tribe. What makes it appear tribal is the complex Irish system of naming túatha and other territories after an apical ancestor-figure, which gives the impression that everyone within that political lordship was linked by common descent to the ancestor celebrated in its very name. Thus, for example, Brian Bóraime’s dynasty was called Dál Cais because it claimed to be the dál (‘section, division’) of a supposed ancestor called Cass. But Dál Cais was the name of both the lineage and the territorial kingdom over which the lineage ruled, and by no means everyone in the territory was of that lineage.




When he was growing up, Brian’s territorial neighbours to his west, in mid-Clare, were a parallel descent-group called Uí Chaissíne, who, their name shows us, believed themselves to be the uí (grandsons, and by extension descendants) of the eponymous Caisséne. Just west of them were their kinsmen Cenél Fermaic, where cenél means that they were the ‘race’ or descendants of an apical forebear called Fermac. Their neighbours to the west did not belong to Dál Cais, but their name, Corcu Bascind, preserves an ancestor-figure Baiscend of whom they were the corcu, the seed; and so on.


Ireland was dominated by political groupings calling themselves the uí of a or the cenél of b or the corcu of c or the dál of d or one of a variety of other population names.8 Each, and the territory they occupied, was a túath (although, if they prospered, in due course they divided like cells into multiple túatha). But they were not tribes, and each had within it many people who were not related by blood to the dominant lineage. In addition, there are numerous examples through the centuries of lineages that expanded into neighbouring territory and embraced the name of the dynasty they displaced.9 To give just one example, in the Boyne Valley there was a territory ruled by a people called the Ciannachta, whose name indicated descent from a man called Cian (just as the Connachta were descended from Conn and the Eóganachta from Eógan). When, therefore, the annals record the death in 748 of a man called Indrechtach, rex Ciannachte, we should expect him to be able to trace his ancestry to Cian, but in fact Indrechtach was of the great dynasty of Uí Néill, which had expanded into the Ciannachta’s territory and confined them north of the Boyne in what is now Co. Louth but kept their dynastic name for their own new territory.10


Frequently the community and territory known as a túath had its own bishop, and the laws recommended that it have its own church, its own ecclesiastical scholar, and its own poet, and that it should be ruled over by its own king (rí), who was therefore called a rí túaithe (‘king of a people’). There were as many of these ‘kings’ in early mediaeval Ireland as there were political communities who thought of themselves as a túath, and there were surely at least a hundred of the latter. The laws, of course—fascinated with the classification of society—liked to grade kings according to status: so, if there was such a thing as a rí túaithe there would need to be a king on a higher rung of the ladder, and then another type of king who was higher up still, each having an honour price commensurate with his rank.


The surviving law tracts are not consistent in the names they give these different grades of kings, but one arrangement has the rí túaithe, as king of a single petty kingdom, coming below the ruirí (‘overking’), who would have been the superior of several petty kings, in turn coming below the rí ruirech (‘king of overkings’), who was at the top of this pyramid. If one were imagining them ruling in modern Ireland (bearing in mind that there is often little relationship between modern administrative divisions and mediaeval territorial units) the rí túaithe might rule something the size of a barony, the ruirí something like a county or a diocese, and the rí ruirech an entire province or archdiocese. But this was a theoretical framework: it might have had some validity at a very early date (although many would doubt it) but in the real world into which Brian Bóraime was born it probably counted for little. By then the leaders of local communities had stopped pretending to be kings, and contemporaries refer to them instead as a toísech (‘leader’) or a tigern (‘lord’), words that acknowledge their noble rank but deny them kingly prestige.11


NATIONAL CONSCIOUSNESS


What this pyramid of kingship, conjured up in the law tracts, did not allow for was a king operating at a higher level than a province-king, i.e. a high-king of Ireland. But this does not mean that no such notion existed: it occurs occasionally in legal texts and is a commonplace in historical texts and in literature.12 A kingship of all Ireland presumed a sense of Ireland as representing a whole, and such a sense certainly existed. Another name for the highest rank of king, the rí ruirech (‘king of overkings’), was rí cóigid (‘king of a fifth’), from the assumption that the island had been, or should be, divided into five provinces—though in the historic era there were always more (see map 1)—and of course the concept of a fifth presupposes a whole of which it was a part.


Furthermore, mediaeval Ireland’s de facto political fragmentation was in stark contrast to its jurisprudential uniformity. True, the surviving Brehon law texts can be shown (by passing mentions of people and places) to emanate from regional locations—for example, the group called Bretha Nemed (‘Judgements of privileged persons’) has a Munster provenance, while the best-preserved collection, known as Senchas Már (‘The great tradition’), comes from somewhere in the north-eastern quadrant of the island; but the laws themselves apply throughout the entire island. There is one law, and that is the law of Ireland. We find reference to béscnu ínse Érend (‘the law-practice of the island of Ireland’), and whatever the regional focus of the people called the Féni (a trace of whom is later found in Finn mac Cumaill’s legendary warrior-bands, the Fianna), their law, called fénechas, is used to mean the earliest customary law of all Ireland.


And the language of the laws—like all materials written in Old Irish—betrays no dialectal variations: there was a standardised grammar and a standardised orthography throughout the Irish-speaking world, which must have had an evocatively cohesive effect. This was achieved, no doubt, because the law was developed by professional jurists, members of the áes dána (like the poets and medics and historians and high-status craftsmen), whose authority transcended local boundaries: a túath might have its own brithem (legal expert) in the same way that it had its own poet or bishop, but when such men of learning ventured into another túath they did not cease to be a bishop or poet or judge. The men of learning practised their craft throughout the Irish world, and because they were the jurists who shaped the laws of that world or the poets who sang the praises of its heroes or the historians who recorded the deeds of its royal lineages, they were a potent and persuasive unifying force.


What comes across most strongly is the Irish sense of themselves as a single people, a remarkably precocious self-awareness that reflected itself in many different ways. Among them is the early development of a national origin-myth, versions of which were in circulation by AD 800 if not sooner and that culminated in Lebor Gabála Érenn (‘The book of the taking of Ireland’), compiled from earlier materials in the decades following Brian’s death. This recounts the succeeding waves of invaders of Ireland from the time of Cessair, the daughter of Noah’s son Bith, to Partholón, who fought the Fomorian demons, to Nemed the Scythian, to the Fir Bolg (who may be related to the Continental Celtic tribe Belgae), to the magical Túatha Dé Danann (‘the peoples of the Goddess Danu’), the climax coming with the arrival of the Milesians. These latter are the Irish, and the invasion-myth had them descend from the daughter of an Egyptian pharaoh; her name Scota, the myth-makers claimed, gives us the Latin name of the island, Scotia, while her son, Goídel Glas, gives his name to the people (the Goídil) and their language (Goídelc). The truth seems rather different, however. It is common enough for early peoples not to have a name for themselves until they need one with which to distinguish themselves from strangers, and it seems the Irish borrowed theirs from that given to them by the Welsh, Gwyddyl.


The Irish had an exceptional pride in their language—which they boasted Goídel Glas (or his ancestor Fénius Farsaid) selected from the best bits of all the other languages scattered throughout the world from Nimrod’s Tower of Babel—and it is indeed remarkable how early, in western European terms, the Irish were in developing a written literature in the vernacular in addition to, or instead of, Latin. Banished from Egypt, their wanderings brought them to Spain, and it was the sons of Míl (i.e. Milesius) of Spain who led them to Ireland, doing battle with the Túatha Dé Danann and proceeding to Tara, where the three goddesses Banba, Fótla and Ériu won the right to have the island named after them.


This bravura compendium was a long time in the making and contains (while struggling to reconcile) many fabulous contradictions, but its Irish audience down through the generations found it powerfully convincing. By tracing the Irish back to Noah it found a place for them in the biblical history of the world, it provided an explanation for their presence on the island, it offered a justification—when that was required—in their struggle to retain possession of their homeland, and above all else it served to emphasise the ancestral links between all the Irish (including the Irish of northern Britain who became the Scots): they were of one natio (birth), a nation.13


The emphasis on preserving (or inventing) these links led to a preoccupation with the spinning of webs of genealogical data that mapped out the descent of the political lineages, great and small. Irish men of letters were greatly influenced by the Bible and hence therefore by the latter’s fascination both with vertical lines of descent (as when Matthew opens his gospel by linking Christ back to Abraham) and with horizontal relationships between peoples (as when the First Book of Chronicles lists how the various tribes of Israel came to occupy their lands by virtue of descent from their eponyms). We therefore still possess a great corpus of genealogical material from mediaeval Ireland that tends to be of two kinds: either a simple pedigree, called a genelach (from Latin genealogia), tracing an individual’s ancestry ascending upwards in the paternal line (A son of B son of C son of D, etc.) or a more ambitious lateral project, sometimes called a cráeb coibnesa (‘branch of relationship’), which might begin at the apex of the pyramid and work down, tracing the parallel lines of dynastic descent as far as the point at which individuals break off from the main line and found new lines, and then trace these in turn.


Undoubtedly here the exercise is about more than just tracing one’s ancestors as an antiquarian pursuit: by showing the connectedness between lineages that might have seemed unconnected, the genealogy plays a powerful role in dynastic solidarity. It is for determining the relationships between peoples, it is for proving one’s status by virtue of pedigree, it is for enabling individuals to stake claims, it is for saying who belongs and who does not. It is therefore about society and about politics. And for that reason one should be wary of assuming that genealogies are always an honest attempt at recording the dynastic links between peoples: as the genealogy has a social and political job to do, while it will usually tell us what its compiler and his patron believed to be true, occasionally it tells us instead only what they wanted to believe, or wanted us to believe.14 And, as we shall see later, no dynasty was more culpable in this matter than Brian’s.


THE KINGSHIP OF TARA


The Hill of Tara—a ridge in east Co. Meath that is a full 2 km in length but never more than about 150 m high and yet affords views as far north as the Mourne Mountains and as far south as Slieve Bloom—preserves monuments dating from the late Stone Age. There are also extensive remains from the Bronze Age and the Iron Age, but there is very little archaeological evidence for occupation or use during the Middle Ages.


The glory days of Tara, therefore, lay in prehistory, and it is not surprising that it features prominently in early Irish mythology. Tara was thought to have been connected with the gods of ancient Ireland, and hence the story in the Lebor Gabála, mentioned above, that when the sons of Míl—the ancestors of the Irish—first set foot in Ireland they confronted the supernatural Túatha Dé Danann at Tara, before defeating them in battle at nearby Tailtiu (Teltown, Co. Meath). Clearly the point is that the Milesians now hold Tara and therefore have the right to rule over Ireland because of their triumph at Tailtiu. The latter was the site of Óenach Tailten (‘the Fair of Tailtiu’), the assembly that only the king of Tara could convene.


The greatest of the Celtic gods, Lug—on whose August festival of Lugnasad the óenach was held—is associated with both Tara and Tailtiu. One tale has him gaining the kingship of Tara while another says that he celebrated his banais rígi (‘wedding-feast of kingship’) at Tailtiu. Lug is said to have appeared at Tara to Conn Cétchathach—ancestor of the peoples who gave Connacht its name and also of the great dynasty of Uí Néill, who came to dominate much of Ireland—accompanied by a beautiful young woman, whom he introduces as flaith Érenn (‘sovereignty of Ireland’), who then gave a drink of ale to Conn and all his successors until the Day of Judgement. The idea here is that she is the sovereignty goddess who bestows entitlement to rule on the rightful aspirant and is therefore confirming the claim of Conn’s descendants to the rule of Tara and of Ireland. The Irish called this concept fír flathemon (‘truth of a ruler’), and in other texts she becomes the wife or lover of the rightful king. She represents the land and people, and through his marriage with the goddess the legitimate king is confirmed as temporal ruler of her territory, under whom the land flourishes and the people prosper.


On the hill of Tara there is a stone called the Lia Fáil (‘Stone of Destiny’), which, the literature tells us, cries out like an oracle beneath the feet of the rightful king of Ireland. This tells us a little bit about the idea of the kingship of Tara. It was about the legitimation of a right to rule. Tara was not a kingdom, or the capital of a kingdom, ruled over by a king who, when he died or was overthrown, was replaced by the next in line. Sometimes there was no rí Temro (‘king of Tara’), and usually the king of Tara lived nowhere near it. From the point when we begin to get a glimpse of events in Ireland in the fifth century until the middle of the seventh century, members of various dynasties—from the present-day provinces of Connacht, Ulster and Leinster—claimed the kingship of Tara, which shows that it was not the preserve of any one dynasty. Granted, it did not mean that the individual concerned ever managed to exercise a kingship over the whole island, as there was no centralised monarchy either in prehistoric or early mediaeval Ireland; but the fact is that the special status of the king of Tara was (at least sometimes) recognised throughout the island.




Later, however, this changed. From the middle of the seventh century and for the next three hundred years or more, until Brian came along at the end of the tenth century, the kingship of Tara was monopolised by the Uí Néill, one great dynasty with many sprawling branches. While there may have been a lingering memory of Tara’s special place in the Irish polity, the term rí Temro came to be equated with the overking of the Uí Néill and with the attempts by the latter to claim hegemony throughout all Ireland.15


THE EMERGENCE OF THE UÍ NÉILL


Muirchú, who wrote a Life of St Patrick about the year 700, describes the celebrated historical or pseudo-historical figure Niall Noígiallach (‘Niall of the Nine Hostages’) as ‘the one from whom was descended the royal stock of almost the entire island (origo stirpis regiae huius pene insolae).’ It is a great exaggeration, but it sums up the contemporary reality of Muirchú’s day, when so many of the dominant lineages in at least the northern half of Ireland seemed to trace themselves back to Niall.


Assuming he was a real person, Niall may have lived in the fifth century and is said to have descended from Conn Cétchathach (‘Conn of the Hundred Battles’), who was believed to have lived seven generations before Niall, in the late Iron Age. Conn is much less likely to have been a historical figure, but the theory was that Conn gave his name to the people called Connachta (remembered in the province of Connacht), and it does seem quite likely that Niall’s kin originated west of the Shannon.


The genealogies depict Niall as the father of more than a dozen sons (although the Uí of Uí Néill literally means ‘grandsons’ and hence descendants of Niall and therefore does not apply until we are two or more generations removed from him), each of whom went on to found a lineage of his own, which carved out a territorial presence. Even if this picture of a remarkably fertile and fortunate family were true, it is likely that many so-called Uí Néill lineages were nothing of the sort but that, as Uí Néill power grew over the centuries, other population groups grafted themselves onto the Uí Néill family tree by claiming that their ancestor had been one of Niall’s sons. If some of these dynastic founders were actual sons of Niall, among the genuine articles may be Cairpre, Lóegaire, Fiachu, and Conall Cremthainne, from each of whom prestigious dynasties in the midlands, known collectively as the Southern Uí Néill, claimed their descent, while others of Niall’s sons, who founded the north-western dynasties known collectively as the Northern Uí Néill, were Eógan and Conall Gulban (assuming Niall had two sons called Conall, a not unheard-of custom).


We do not know for certain when any of these individuals lived. Muirchú says that when Patrick came to evangelise Ireland in the fifth century Niall’s son Lóegaire was ‘emperor of the barbarians ruling in Tara, which was the capital of the Irish (imperator barbarorum regnans in Temporia, quae erat caput Scotorum)’; but he was writing more than two hundred years later, and his is not a work of history but of hagiography and ecclesiastical propaganda. The most we can say for certain is that the basic framework of the Northern and Southern Uí Néill dynasties was in place by the sixth century, at which point they were certainly attempting to stake a claim to Tara, and that they had made the kingship fully their own by the middle years of the following century.


The title rí Temro (‘king of Tara’) having being appropriated, it came to be used as an honorific attaching to the highest-ranking king among the Uí Néill. Then, for a period of a quarter of a millennium from the reign of Áed Allán (died 743) until the accession of Máel Sechnaill II in 980, the title ‘king of Tara’ alternated (with only one exception) between the Northern and Southern Uí Néill. Thus, when Áed Allán of the Northern Uí Néill died in 743 the title ‘king of Tara’ did not go to his northern successor but instead reverted to the foremost dynast of the Southern Uí Néill, Domnall Midi; and then, at the latter’s death in 763, the northern leader Niall Frossach (died 778) obtained the title, after whom a Southern Uí Néill dynast, Donnchad Midi (died 797), secured the honour, and so on.


When we weigh up the impact of Brian, among the most important considerations to have regard to are his interruption of this system of rotation and his undermining of so prestigious a title.16


SOUTHERN UÍ NÉILL


When we use the term Southern Uí Néill (map 2) it is only as a convenient shorthand for what were a number of competing dynasties—all claiming descent from Niall Noígiallach—which occupied a broad swathe of territory stretching from north-east Connacht to just north of Dublin, with their hub in the present-day counties of Meath and Westmeath. The most successful of them were descended from Niall’s son Conall Cremthainne through the children of his grandson Diarmait mac Cerbaill (died 565), the last man known to have presided over the pagan fertility rite called Feis Temro (‘the feast of Tara’).


One of Diarmait’s sons was Colmán Már, the founder of Clann Cholmáin Máir (‘the children of Colmán the Elder’), which provided kings of Mide (literally ‘the Middle’) in present-day Co. Westmeath and adjacent parts of Cos. Longford and Offaly. Another son was Áed Sláine, ancestor of Síl nÁedo Sláine (‘the seed of Áed of Slane’), which provided kings of Brega in Co. Meath and, at one time at least, south Co. Louth and north Co. Dublin.


When they first emerge into the light, in the seventh century, Síl nÁedo Sláine were the more successful and provided several kings of Tara, i.e. overkings of the Uí Néill. But by the middle of the eighth century they had split into two separate branches, a kingdom in northern Brega that had its centre at the prehistoric tumulus at Knowth in the Boyne Valley and a southern Brega kingdom that had as its royal palace a crannóg at Lagore near Dunshaughlin. This splintering of Síl nÁedo Sláine corresponded to the rise of Clann Cholmáin. Based in the west of the province, and sometimes bearing the title ‘king of Uisnech’—from the sacred hill in Co. Westmeath thought to be the umbilical centre of Ireland, meeting-point of the five ancient provinces—their royal residences were at Dún na Sciath near Lough Ennell and on a crannóg called Cró-inis on the lake itself.


After 728 no king of Brega claimed the kingship of Tara and overkingship of the Uí Néill—with the solitary exception of Congalach Cnogba (‘Congalach of Knowth’), who died in 956—as Clann Cholmáin of Mide grew ever more prominent.


It is during the reign of Donnchad Midi (died 797) that Clann Cholmáin assumed truly national importance and we find them trying to turn their kingship into an all-Ireland dominance. Donnchad, for instance, repeatedly attempted to gain the submission of the overkings of Leinster and Munster and formed marriage alliances with the kings of Ulaid in east Ulster. Although his death coincided with the beginning of the Viking Age, his grandson Máel Sechnaill I (died 862) copperfastened the dynasty’s claim to national pre-eminence by his successes against the Viking offensive. In 845 Máel Sechnaill captured the Viking chieftain Turgéis and had him drowned in Lough Owel; in 848 he slew seven hundred Vikings in a battle in the same area; and in 849 he overran the new Viking ship-camp at Dublin. His success in championing this national effort enabled him to throw his weight around among his contemporaries. In 854 and 856 he took the hostages of Munster—the first king of Tara to do so—meaning that the province submitted to his overlordship. And in 858 he again entered Munster, accompanied by ‘the men of Ireland’—the annalist’s way of saying that Máel Sechnaill was the king of Ireland on campaign, accompanied by his military vassals—and brought the province to its knees, so that he gained an unprecedented acknowledgement of his superiority.


In the following year Máel Sechnaill convened a rígdál (‘royal conference’) at Rahugh, Co. Westmeath, the astonishing conclusion of which was that ‘the Osraige were alienated to Leth Cuinn, and Máel Gualae, king of Munster, warranted the alienation.’ Leth Cuinn was the name for the northern half of Ireland; the Osraige were a people who inhabited the Nore Valley in the southern half, which was dominated by the king of Munster. What Máel Sechnaill was doing was high-handedly transferring the overlordship of the southern kingdom of Osraige from Munster to himself, the Clann Cholmáin king of Tara.


Admittedly, our perception of the greatness of Clann Cholmáin is moulded by a historical record that they themselves helped to shape. Their great monastic church was Clonmacnoise on the banks of the Shannon, where Máel Sechnaill’s celebrated son and successor Flann Sinna (‘Flann of the Shannon’) (died 916) has left us the magnificent Cross of the Scriptures commissioned by him and whose scriptorium was unceasing in recording the deeds of its kings and promoting their claims to national hegemony.


Flann’s munificence to Clonmacnoise may have been in thanksgiving for success over Munster. Following years of opposition from the ambitious Cormac mac Cuilennáin, and punitive expeditions in 905 and 906, Flann’s forces were overcome by Munster at the Battle of Mag Léna in 907, but he eventually defeated and killed Cormac, in alliance with the kings of Leinster and Connacht, at the bloody battle of Belach Mugna (Ballaghmoon, Co. Carlow) in 908. These conflicts, a century before the horrific Battle of Clontarf, are proof that bloodletting in Irish warfare was nothing new and that inter-provincial enmities had been intensifying in recent generations—proof, of course, that there was much at stake.


For Flann’s son Donnchad Donn (died 944) the threat came from the newly restored power of the Norse of Dublin, whom he defeated heavily in 920. Then he burned the town in 936, while in 938 he laid the Vikings under siege, ravaging their territory from Dublin to Áth Truisten (near Castledermot, Co. Kildare). Donnchad Donn managed to achieve the latter success because he was now allied to his erstwhile rival of the Northern Uí Néill, Muirchertach son of Niall Glúndub—although which of them had the upper hand is a moot point. With Muirchertach’s support, Donnchad was able to entertain ambitions in the southern half of Ireland, taking the hostages of Leinster and Munster in 940, while in 941 he achieved the notable success of securing the capture of the overking of Munster, Cellachán Caisil.


But in the confusion that followed the deaths of both Muirchertach in 943 and Donnchad Donn in 944 the kingship of Tara was seized by the audacious head of the rival Southern Uí Néill line, Congalach Cnogba of Síl nÁedo Sláine of northern Brega. In 944 Congalach and the Leinstermen sacked Dublin. By 945 Congalach had swapped sides and now allied himself with Amlaíb Cuarán, the Norse king of Dublin and York; and although they were defeated by a Northern Uí Néill rival at Slane in 947 they triumphed together against the same foe in 950.


Secure in his possession of the kingship, Congalach Cnogba repeated the efforts of his Uí Néill predecessors to press his advantage in the southern half of Ireland. Indeed in 956, having subdued Leinster, he proceeded to celebrate the Óenach Colmáin (‘Fair of Colmán’), an assembly that took place on the Liffey plain and whose convening was the sole prerogative of the king of Leinster. It was an astonishing break with convention and may have played a part in stirring the rebellion against Congalach that then took place, by which the north Leinster dynasties joined his former allies, the Norse of Dublin, and ambushed and killed him at Tech Giugrann, near Dublin.


It is worth noting that Congalach’s predecessor as king of Tara, Donnchad Donn, had taken as one of his four wives Brian Bóraime’s sister Órlaith. Now, in the reign of Congalach Cnogba, that engagement continued apace. In 950 Congalach invaded the territory of Dál Cais and killed two of Brian’s brothers. All the indications were that Brian’s family was beginning to make an impression on the national stage.17


NORTHERN UÍ NÉILL


The success of the sons of Niall—whether real or invented—in conquering the midlands is said to have been matched by a similar expansion into the north-west (map 3), although there is little or no contemporary evidence for it: indeed the theory of a northerly expansion from Connacht has been questioned and doubt cast on whether the peoples concerned were Uí Néill at all.18


According to the later traditions, however, two of Niall’s ‘sons’ became ancestor-figures of extraordinary distinction. One was Conall Gulban (whose nickname means ‘of Benn Gulban’, i.e. Benbulbin, Co. Sligo), from whom were descended Cenél Conaill (‘the kindred of Conall’) and whose territory was Tír Conaill (‘the land of Conall’) in present-day Co. Donegal. The other was Eógan, whose name is preserved in Inishowen and Tyrone, i.e. Tír nEógain (‘the land of Eógan’), home of his descendants, Cenél nEógain (‘the kindred of Eógan’). For both groups, and for their less successful cousins, we use the term Northern Uí Néill as a shorthand; the paramount king among them bore the title ‘king of the North (rí ind Fhochlai)’. They apparently gained their foothold first in Donegal, from which they began to expand eastwards into a province previously the domain of the people called Ulaid and Airgialla.


Cenél Conaill dominated at first, but after Áed Allán of Cenél nEógain secured the overkingship of the Uí Néill in 734 there began the long rotation of the kingship of Tara between his branch of the Northern Uí Néill and Clann Cholmáin of the Southern Uí Néill, with the result that Cenél Conaill’s power declined and they remained confined to their Donegal homeland, while Cenél nEógain emerged into greatness.


At first based in the north-eastern corner of Donegal, with their headquarters at the great fort at the entrance to the Inishowen Peninsula known as the Gríanán of Ailech—and hence their ruler is often called rí Ailig (‘king of Ailech’)—they pushed eastwards across the Foyle into what is now Co. Derry and then south into what became, because of them, Tyrone; and, while they might claim to be kings of Ailech, their royal inaugurations later took place at Tulach Óc (Tullaghogue, near Dungannon). Needless to say, this area was not virgin territory when Cenél nEógain set their eyes on it. A huge chunk of what is now mid-Ulster was in the possession of a federation of kingdoms called the Airgialla (which means ‘the hostage-givers’, now Oriel). Their superiors may originally have been the Ulaid, but as Cenél nEógain pushed east and south of the Foyle the latter became the Airgialla’s new masters. It is possible that the ‘nine hostages’ of Niall Noígiallach’s sobriquet are nine túatha of Airgialla and that they were called the ‘hostage-givers’ because of their subordination to Cenél nEógain. The latter took possession of the Airgialla lands in Derry and Tyrone, pushing Airgialla’s centre of gravity south to Fermanagh, Monaghan, Armagh and north Louth, its heartland later becoming the diocese of Clogher.


The great church of Armagh—which by the seventh century was already managing to convince many of its claim to be the primatial church of all Ireland—lay in Airgialla territory, and Airgialla dynasts were its patrons and supplied its leaders. At this time Uí Néill attachment lay elsewhere. Colum Cille came from an aristocratic Uí Néill background (he was of the Cenél Conaill), and therefore the great federation of churches subject to his monastery at Iona enjoyed the patronage and promoted the interests of the Uí Néill. But as the other great branch of the Northern Uí Néill, Cenél nEógain, increased its domination of Airgialla, so too Armagh fell under its sway, and as Armagh promoted its own cause it became the vehicle for the advancement of the claims of Cenél nEógain: if Armagh was to be Ireland’s chief church, Cenél nEógain must supply its rightful kings. Their connection was such that when the annals record a murder taking place in the monastic city of Armagh in 870 they mention in passing that it happened ‘in front of the door of the house of’ Áed Findliath (died 879), the king of Cenél nEógain and overking of the Uí Néill. When one of Áed’s grandsons died in 935 we are told that he was buried in Armagh ‘in the cemetery of the kings (in cimiterio regum)’, and Áed’s great-grandson Domnall ua Néill died while in retirement at Armagh in 980.19


Propaganda produced at Armagh may have bolstered the position of these Cenél nEógain kings, but their successes in the world of politics and on the field of battle were their own. It was Áed Allán (died 743) who secured the exclusion of his collaterals Cenél Conaill from overkingship of the Northern Uí Néill and who triumphed over the Ulaid at the Battle of Faughart (Co. Louth) in 735 and over the Leinstermen at Áth Senaig (Ballyshannon, near Kilcullen, Co. Kildare) in 738, having convened a remarkable rígdál (royal meeting) with the king of Munster, Cathal mac Finguine, the previous year—all testimony to the supra-provincial ambitions of Cenél nEógain by the eighth century.


Áed Allán’s nephew Áed Oirdnide (died 819) was equally forceful in making his presence felt in Ulaid, and in the lands of the Southern Uí Néill and in Leinster. In 805 he deposed the king of Leinster, who was head of one of the three main lineages in the dynasty of Uí Dúnlainge, and partitioned the province between the heads of the other two lineages. And, his reign coinciding with the first wave of Viking incursions, he seems to have been effective in keeping them at bay.


Áed’s son Niall Caille (died 846)—who finally subdued Airgialla to Cenél nEógain control—was equally firm in resisting Viking penetration of Northern Uí Néill territory and was very prominent on the national stage. He too deposed a Leinster king in favour of a protégé from a competing lineage but is most famous as the man who put paid to the most serious threat hitherto posed to the hegemony of the Uí Néill, that of Fedelmid mac Crimthainn (died 847), king of Munster. Niall’s son Áed Findliath (died 879) was periodically allied to the Vikings, marrying his daughter to Amlaíb Find (Óláfr or Olaf the White), king of Dublin—an ally in Áed’s ultimately successful bid for the kingship of Tara—although Áed was resolute in resisting attempts by the Vikings of Strangford Lough to strengthen their presence in the north.


On three occasions in the 870s the annalists had commented critically on the failure to hold the Óenach Tailten (‘Fair of Tailtiu’), the calling of which was a prerogative of Áed Findliath as king of Tara, and it is noticeable that his son and successor Niall Glúndub (died 919) did just that immediately upon succeeding to the kingship in 916. This seems to have been a conscious revival by Niall of a symbolic occasion that had been drifting towards oblivion, and it is perhaps indicative of an attempt by Niall Glúndub to galvanise national opposition to Viking aggression. In 917 he marched south to support the attempt by the overkings of Leinster and Munster to halt the Viking occupation of Waterford and Dublin, in 919 becoming the first king of Tara to lose his life in conflict with Vikings when he suffered a major defeat in the Battle of Cell Mo-shamhóc, at Islandbridge, near Dublin. Moreover, Niall—from whom the later O’Neills of Ulster take their name—produced in his son Muirchertach (died 943) an even more inveterate foe of the Vikings. Known as Muirchertach na Cochall Craicinn (‘of the leather cloaks’), apparently from the mantles worn by his soldiers in campaigning against them, his reign as king of the North (he did not live long enough to secure the kingship of Tara) again saw notable success in uprooting Viking attempts at settlement on the Ulster coastline. He is credited with a successful naval expedition to the Viking colony in the Hebrides and, like his father before him, lost his life in battle (at Clonkeen, Co. Louth) with the Viking king of Dublin. Muirchertach’s career also testifies to the enduring national ambitions of the kings of Cenél nEógain. Although a poem celebrating his famous ‘circuit of Ireland’ in 941 can be shown to be a much later composition, the events at its core are historical and show a man campaigning far from his home base, marching through Mide and then south into Uí Failgi, Osraige and Déisi and capturing the overking of Munster, Cellachán Caisil, whom he brought back to his Southern Uí Néill overlord as a prisoner.


But Muirchertach’s early death caused the first stutter in the Cenél nEógain advance. It led to an opening for the reigning king of the rival Cenél Conaill of Donegal, Ruaidrí ua Canannáin, to make a bid for power. Having secured the kingship of the North, Ruaidrí set his eyes on the kingship of Tara, now in the hands of the equally enterprising upstart Congalach Cnogba, king of northern Brega. Ruaidrí’s efforts at outgunning Congalach are testimony to the persistent strength of the Dublin Vikings at this time. In 945 Ruaidrí was defeated in battle in Conaille Muirthemne (north Louth) by Congalach and Amlaíb Cuarán of Dublin; in 947 he again came south from Tír Conaill and this time defeated Congalach and Amlaíb Cuarán near Slane; and in 950 he turned again to the challenge of taking the kingship of Tara, setting up camp in Mide and in Congalach’s lands in Brega for six months before facing the army of Dublin in the major battle of Muine Broccáin, in which, although two thousand of Amlaíb Cuarán’s army are said to have perished, Ruaidrí lost his own life, and Cenél Conaill pretensions to the kingship of Tara rapidly disintegrated.


When Ruaidrí’s death at the hands of the Dubliners was followed in 956 by Congalach Cnogba’s in similar fashion it paved the way for the son of Muirchertach na Cochall Craicinn, Domnall ua Néill (he was literally Domnall ua Néill, i.e. Domnall grandson of Niall Glúndub), to reclaim Tara for his line, and it is noticeable that as soon as he did so he set about asserting military supremacy over the other provinces. In 962 he was in Mide and went as far as Munster to press his claims; in 965 he secured the submission of the overking of Connacht, Fergal ua Ruairc; and in 968 he was attacking Leinster and the Norse of Dublin. Although he suffered a major defeat at the hands of Congalach Cnogba’s son and Amláib of Dublin in 970, in the following year, the annals tell us, ‘he took revenge on them on that occasion for their opposition to him, for he erected a camp in every túath in Mide (do-roine longport cecha tuaithe i Midhe),’ which seems to mean that he imposed garrisons on the inhabitants, perhaps representing an intensification of contemporary warfare.


But by now the great age of Cenél nEógain pre-eminence was coming to an end. By the time of Domnall ua Néill’s death, in 980, Brian Bóraime was already beginning to make his mark, and the Uí Néill ascendancy was about to face its stiffest challenge.20


ULAID


Relations with one’s neighbours can be fraught, and no neighbours were more constant in their antagonism than the Northern Uí Néill and the Ulaid, later Ulaidh. (Ulaidh + the Norse genitive s + tír (‘land’) = Ulster.) The enmity stemmed from the Ulaid’s memory of former glory days, brought to an end by Uí Néill encroachment on their ancestral territory.


At the dawn of Irish history, in the fifth century, Emain Macha (Navan Fort, near Armagh) was remembered as the political focal point of the land of the Ulaid, but possession of it was lost when the Ulaid were driven eastwards by the Uí Néill and Airgialla from their dominant position in the centre of Ulster to a coastal remnant in Cos. Antrim, Down and Louth, a situation that had occurred by the eighth century. Strictly speaking, the mediaeval Ulaid were the people known as Dál Fiatach, whose capital was at Dún-dá-lethglas (Downpatrick) and whose territory stretched from Belfast Lough to Dundrum Bay in Co. Down. They were distantly related to the Dál Riata of the Glens of Antrim but did not have to compete with them for the overkingship of Ulaid, because by the sixth century Dál Riata were busy conquering Hebridean islands in the Islay and Mull groups and indeed, having overwhelmed much of mainland Argyll and Kintyre, founding what would become the kingdom of the Scots.


Of greater concern to the Dál Fiatach were the Dál nAraidi—descended from the Cruthni, who are sometimes thought to be connected to the Picts of northern Britain—whose kings lived at Ráith Mór (just east of the town of Antrim) in the fertile plain of Mag Line, around the valley of the Six Mile Water in south Antrim. During the Viking Age in particular Dál nAraidi enjoyed some success in outmanoeuvring Dál Fiatach for the Ulaid overkingship, perhaps because the latter’s energies were dissipated in resisting Viking incursions into east Ulster and because of competition between Dál Fiatach and the Vikings for control of the Isle of Man, in which the Ulaid had a long-standing interest.


But Dál Fiatach remained the dominant force among the Ulaid. They were remarkably stubborn in their refusal to kowtow to Cenél nEógain imperiousness, for which they paid a price, as when the Cenél nEógain slaughtered the king of the Ulaid and many of their nobility at the battle of Craeb Telcha in 1004. One consequence of this catastrophe—apart from plunging the dynasty into a blood-spattered succession war—was that the Ulaid, who were normally happy to align themselves with Cenél nEógain’s enemies and should therefore (as we shall see) have been ripe for enlistment by Brian in his great drive against the Cenél nEógain, proved to be of little benefit.21


CONNACHT


The western province is the land of the Connachta (map 4), a people said to descend from the Iron Age king Conn Cétchathach (‘Conn of the Hundred Battles’), who is perhaps a product of legend. As with all the provinces, it was not that all those west of the Shannon were thought to be descendants of Conn, merely that the latter, having a dominant position, claimed the province as rightly theirs. They shared it with peoples many of whom were distantly related to population groups scattered far and wide throughout the island, such as the Ciarraige (related to those people who give their name to Kerry), the Luigne, Gailenga, Calraige, Grecraige, Partraige, Delbna, Sogain, and the Conmaicne (one of whose branches, Conmaicne Mara, give us the present-day Connemara). And the Connachta also shared their province with the Uí Maine (of east Co. Galway and south Co. Roscommon), who were significant enough to be supplied with a false genealogical link to the Connachta. By Brian Bóraime’s day their main branch bore the surname Ua Cellaig (O’Kelly), and their king died alongside Brian at the Battle of Clontarf.


As for the true Connachta, they are all said to descend from three brothers of Niall Noígiallach: Brión, Fiachrae and Ailill. Ailill’s progeny dwindled to local lordly rank (remembered today in the barony of Tirerrill, Co. Sligo). Brión’s progeny, called Uí Briúin (‘descendants of Brión’), were vastly more assertive and seem to have started from a base in the fertile plain of Mag nAí, where the province’s ancient capital of Cruachu (Rathcroghan, Co. Roscommon), was situated.


As it prospered, over the course of time Uí Briúin splintered into branches. By far the most successful was the portion that remained in its Roscommon heartland in Mag nAí—they were thus called Uí Briúin Aí—from one of whose kings, Muiredach Muillethan (died 702), came the lineage known as Síl Muiredaig, which by Brian’s time had adopted the surname Ua Conchobair (O’Connor) and throughout the rest of the Middle Ages provided kings of Connacht.


A second major branch of Uí Briúin was known as Uí Briúin Bréifne, having survived by pushing north-east into the badlands of what are now Cos. Leitrim and Cavan. From its leader Ruarc (died 898) it adopted the surname Ua Ruairc (O’Rourke), and by the time of Brian Bóraime it was beginning to make its presence felt on the wider national stage.


One final branch of the dynasty, that known as Uí Briúin Seóla, took its name from the plain east of Lough Corrib called Mag Seóla, although by Brian’s day—at which point its main line had adopted the surname Ua Flaithbertaig (O’Flaherty)—it was no doubt beginning to feel the pressure that led to it being pushed west of the Corrib into Connemara.


Besides these descendants of Brión, the other great power among the Connachta was the reputed descendants of his brother Fiachrae, called Uí Fiachrach. To begin with they appear, if anything, even more successful than the Uí Briúin, at least up to the end of the eighth century. There were two separate arms of the dynasty, occupying opposite ends of the province. The northern Uí Fiachrach held the area surrounding Killala Bay and the valley of the River Moy and produced a number of overkings of the province until the beginning of the Viking Age, their decline from this point on perhaps hinting at destabilisation caused by Viking activity in the region. The southern branch were called Uí Fiachrach Aidne and held an area south-east of Galway Bay that became the diocese of Kilmacduagh. Of the Connacht dynasties they are arguably the one most closely involved in Munster affairs.


The Shannon had once formed the boundary between Munster and Connacht, but the area south of the Slieve Aughty Mountains on the Galway-Clare border had been seized by Brian’s remote ancestors at some point between the fifth and the seventh century. The Uí Fiachrach king who came closest to claiming the lands stretching south to the Shannon was the fabled Guaire Aidne (died 663), who fought a battle in Co. Limerick against the Munstermen in 627 and whose family remained closely associated with the great Thomond churches of Inis Celtra (on Lough Derg) and Tuamgraney, Co. Clare. These longstanding geopolitical links partly explain why Guaire Aidne’s descendant Máelruanaid Ua hEidin of Uí Fiachrach was one of the few non-Munster princes to die alongside Brian at the Battle of Clontarf.22


LETH CUINN AND LETH MOGA


All these dynasties—the Connachta and Uí Néill, the Airgialla and Ulaid—and the other unrelated descent groups and subject peoples that coexisted around them and under them, were confined to the northern half of Ireland. Its formal name was Leth Cuinn (‘Conn’s Half’), from Conn Cétchathach, ancestor of the Connachta and Uí Néill. The southern half of Ireland was called Leth Moga (‘Mug’s Half’, literally ‘the half of the slave’), from Mug Nuadat, otherwise known as Eógan, the ancestor-figure of the paramount dynasty in Munster, the Eóganachta. The dividing line between the two halves, the learned men of mediaeval Ireland said, ran along the course of the Eiscir Riada from the ford called Áth Cliath over the Liffey at Dublin to the ford of the same name over the river Clarin at Clarinbridge, Co. Galway.


The theory developed by the literati was that Ireland had originally been divided in two between Éremón and Éber, the sons of Míl who first settled the island, and that this division had been perpetuated in the sharing out of the island between their descendants, Conn and Eógan. It was probably an attempt to rationalise the political status quo at the time of the theory’s concoction, perhaps in the seventh or eighth century, when the sphere of influence of the king of Tara coincided with these northern provinces and the influence of the Eóganachta king of Cashel was restricted to Munster and, intermittently, its southern neighbours. But, given the fact that the Uí Néill king of Tara exercised somewhat more effective overlordship of the northern half—to say nothing of his authority beyond it, especially in Leinster—than the king of Munster did throughout the southern half, the claim that the two kings enjoyed equal status was weak, suggesting that it was originally dreamt up to bolster Munster’s claims.


Despite this, the authenticity of the division was accepted by the Uí Néill. The term Leth Cuinn is used in literature associated with the Uí Néill, such as the Annals of Ulster (where it first appears as early as 748), and we have seen that in 859 Máel Sechnaill I convened a ‘royal conference of the nobility of Ireland (righdhal mathe Erenn)’ at Rahugh, Co. Westmeath, which presided over the short-lived alienation of the southern kingdom of Osraige from Leth Moga to Leth Cuinn, with the agreement (however reluctant) of the overking of Leth Moga, Máel Gualae of Munster.23


LEINSTER


The province of the Laigin (map 5), later Laighen, by the seventh century at the latest had shrunk to the area bounded by the Liffey, the Bog of Allen, the Slieve Bloom Mountains and the lower Barrow. (Laighen + the Norse genitive s + tír (‘land’) = Leinster.) It may have been geographically in the southern half, but the Uí Néill were wont to eye it up for Leth Cuinn.


There was a tradition that the Uí Néill were entitled to exact a bórama or cattle-tribute from them (a different bórama led to Brian acquiring his famous nickname), and the text called Bórama Laigen (‘The cattle-tribute of Leinster’) itemises what the Uí Néill kings of Tara demanded of the Leinstermen, as follows:




Thrice five thousand cows; thrice five thousand swine; thrice five thousand mantles; thrice five thousand chains of silver; thrice five thousand wethers; thrice five thousand cauldrons of brass; a great cauldron of brass into which twelve swine and twelve beeves would go in the house of Tara itself; thirty white, red-eared cows with calves of the same colour, and with ties of bronze and with tethers of bronze, and with their milk-pails of bronze in addition thereto.24





This is literature, not history, but there might be a germ of truth in the basic point of the story, which is that the Uí Néill persistently sought the submission of the Leinstermen, something the latter strove to deny them.


It was probably pressure from the Uí Néill that had caused the contraction of Leinster in the first place, the Leinstermen remembering a time when their ancestors had ruled in Tara before it passed into Uí Néill hands. This annexation is the meaning behind those tales that feature an ancestor-figure of the Uí Néill mating with a Leinsterwoman—as when the legendary Cormac mac Airt abducts Eithne Thóebfhota, daughter of the king of the Laigin—as she is presumably a sovereignty figure who symbolises the kingship of Tara passing from the Laigin to the Uí Néill. It is not known whether the early Laigin settlements in Britain—which, as we have seen, we can trace from ogham inscriptions and place-names—were a response to this encroachment from the north, but they are a reminder that Leinster was a province that tended to maintain very close links with the world beyond St George’s Channel.


As throughout Ireland, the geography of Leinster dictated settlement, and settlement dictated political allegiances. Thus the Wicklow Mountains were a dividing line between the northern part of the province in the fertile lands of the Liffey Valley and the plains of Kildare, dominated by the Uí Dúnlainge, and the southern part in the valleys of the Barrow and Slaney, dominated by Uí Chennselaig. The latter produced a few overkings of all Leinster up to the early eighth century—and were to do so again when the family of the infamous Diarmait Mac Murchada (Dermot McMurrough) came to the fore in the eleventh century—but in the interval the Uí Dúnlainge of north Leinster dominated.


Three brothers—Muiredach, Fáelán, and Dúnchad, who lived in the first half of the eighth century—each founded a lineage that became a substantial territorial kingdom within north Leinster, alternating the overkingship of the province between them. The descendants of Muiredach (died 760), known as the Uí Muiredaig, bore the title rig Iarthar Liphi (‘king of the Western Liffey Plain’) and maintained a grip on the dynasty’s headquarters at Maistiu (Mullaghmast, Co. Kildare). From one of their more successful kings, Tuathal, who died in 958, they adopted the surname Ua Tuathail (O’Toole), and they were to remain a potent force in Dublin’s southern hinterland for many centuries.


The same is true of the progeny of Fáelán (died 738), whose lordship was further north, based at Naas, and whose king bore the title ri Airthir Liphi (‘king of the Eastern Liffey Plain’). Their king Máelmórda held the overkingship of Leinster at the time of the Battle of Clontarf and was Brian’s principal Irish opponent in the battle, in which both men lost their lives. From Máelmórda’s son Bran the dynasty adopted the surname Ua Brain (O’Byrne); and, while they (like their Uí Thuathail cousins) were later banished by the Anglo-Normans from the plains of Kildare to the wilds of Wicklow, they nevertheless went on to play a central role in later centuries.


The third line of the Uí Dúnlainge, descended from Dúnchad (died 728) and bearing the dynastic name Uí Dúnchada, was further north still (Dolphin’s Barn, near Kilmainham, is said to be a corruption of Uí Dúnchada’s Cairn) and had its headquarters at Liamain (Newcastle Lyons) on the border of Dublin and Kildare. By the eleventh century, when they had conquered the Cualu area of south Co. Dublin and north Co. Wicklow, they had adopted the surname Mac Gilla Mo-Cholmóc and after 1170 married into and merged with the Anglo-Norman conquerors of nearby Dublin.


It is possible that the Uí Dúnlainge gained supremacy in Leinster because they enjoyed the favour of the Clann Cholmáin kings of Southern Uí Néill; but as the Uí Néill consolidated their hegemony over Leth Cuinn their aspirations to impose themselves on Leth Moga set in. Donnchad Midi (died 797) invaded Leinster in 770—spending a week at the ancient hill-fort of Dún Ailinne (on Knockaulin Hill, near Old Kilcullen, Co. Kildare), a place of symbolic significance for the Leinstermen, and ten years later he also laid waste the land and churches of Leinster. Donnchad’s successor as king of Tara, Áed Oirnide (died 819) of the Northern Uí Néill, devastated Leinster twice in one month in 804, and the following year he sought to undermine the province further by partitioning it in two between the heads of what would become the Uí Muiredaig and Uí Fáeláin lineages—an extraordinary demonstration of Uí Néill self-confidence and ambition. This same king of Tara was defeated by the Leinstermen at the Liffey in 808, partitioned the kingdom in two again in 818, and led one final invasion the following year in which he laid waste the province, from Cualu to Glendalough.


Áed’s son Niall Caille (died 846) succeeded him as king of the Northern Uí Néill, and it is noticeable that after his assumption of the kingship of Tara in 833 he too intervened in Leinster to appoint a king of his own choosing, as if it were a right due him by virtue of his rank. But Leinster was part of Leth Moga, and Leth Moga was dominated by the kings of Munster; the latter therefore denied the right of the king of Tara to intervene there. This is why the celebrated king of Munster Feidlimid mac Crimthainn (died 847), entered Leinster in 841 and, though unsuccessful, did battle with the king of Tara, Niall Caille, somewhere in Co. Kildare. But the reason they came to blows was that Feidlimid had marched all the way from Munster to the place called Carman, where the kings of Leinster convened the óenach or assembly that was their sole prerogative; presumably he had been intending to celebrate the Óenach Carmain himself, to demonstrate that it was he, the king of Cashel, rather than the king of Tara who was Leinster’s rightful overlord.25


MUNSTER


The province of Mumu (map 6), later Mumhain, was of course very much larger than Leinster. (Mumhain + the Norse genitive s + tír (‘land’) = Munster.) It was sometimes described, perhaps in an artificial attempt to mimic the division of Ireland into five fifths, as having five parts—north, south, east, west, and middle Munster (Tuadmumu, Desmumu, Aurmumu, Iarmumu and Medón Muman)—the first three of which have left an imprint in the area-names Thomond, Desmond and Ormond. The major fault-line in the province in the early period was between east and west, although the eventual triumph of Brian’s dynasty reflected a north-south divide, with Brian and his descendants, the O’Briens, ruling Tuadmumu while the MacCarthys—Meic Carthaig, ‘descendants of Carthach’ (who flourished c. 1050)—the remnants of their vanquished predecessors, retained Desmumu.


The latter were the most successful survivors from a sprawling federation of dynasties claiming descent from the legendary Eógan Már—thus they were called the Eóganachta (similar to the descent of the Connachta from the prehistoric Conn). Their fabulous origin-myth tells of Cashel being ‘discovered’ by Eógan’s descendant Conall Corc, whose mother, it was said, was British and who had spent a long exile among the Picts; and it is just possible that the origins of the Eóganachta lay in the expulsion of Irish colonists from their settlements in Wales (Caisil is an early borrowing from Latin castellum) which may have happened about the year 400 or so. The genealogists like to think of the Eóganachta as having seven branches, although in reality there were more, as, while some withered away over the generations, others prospered and produced successful offshoots.


In the earlier records a branch that features prominently is Eóganacht Locha Léin, whose name indicates a presence in the environs of Lough Leane at Killarney and who may have controlled the fertile lands northwards from there to the River Maine. While ruling this as their core territory they also claimed an overlordship of all Iarmumu (Cos. Clare, Limerick, Kerry and west Cork) but had gone into decline by the beginning of the Viking Age; and the loosening of their bonds of lordship was no doubt one of the factors that enabled Brian’s dynasty of Dál Cáis to begin to assert itself. When the latter did so they found that it was another branch of the Eóganacht that offered stiffest rearguard defiance, the branch taking its name from Raithlend (near Bandon, Co. Cork): indeed the man who in 976 killed Mathgamain, Brian’s brother and predecessor as king of Dál Cais, was the reigning king of the Eóganacht Raithlind, Máel Muad mac Brain, and the first major battle that Brian fought after his succession, the battle of Belach Lechta in 978, saw Brian wreak his revenge.


But the claim of Eóganacht Raithlind to the kingship of Munster during Brian’s early years was a temporary interlude in the history of the sustained possession of the title by those branches of the dynasty based on the fertile plains of north Cork, east Limerick and Tipperary. The Eóganacht Glennamnach, ancestors of the Uí Cháim (O’Keeffes), have left a trace of their name in the village of Glanworth near Fermoy and held sway over the Blackwater Valley, producing a succession of kings of Munster—including one of its most illustrious, Cathal mac Finguine (died 742)—until decline set in in the early ninth century. From that point onwards, various lineages of Eóganacht Chaisil led the way, with a centre of gravity, as their name suggests, about Cashel (Co. Tipperary).


For some reason, though, the overkings of Munster drawn from the Eóganacht Chaisil do not show the same tendency as overkings elsewhere in Ireland to try to consolidate power in one direct line. For instance, if one were to trace the paternal ancestry of their two most remarkable kings of the Viking Age, Feidlimid mac Crimthainn (died 847) and Cormac mac Cuilennáin (died 908) one would have to go back to the time of St Patrick to find the common ancestor from whom both descend. This failure to concentrate power, and therefore material resources, in one pre-eminent lineage ultimately undermined them.


Besides, like all the great dynasties, the Eóganacht did not rule Munster after removing those who held land and power before them: rather, as the Eóganacht expanded they pushed others aside, taking their good lands and leaving the bad. But these peoples always had the potential to stage a recovery or pose a threat or side with an enemy. For instance, the kings of Cashel might claim overlordship of the Osraige, whose land was coterminous with the diocese of Ossory and who possessed at Belach Gabráin (Gowran, Co. Kilkenny) one of the few routes by which a land army could enter Munster; but Osraige pursued an independent strategy, tending if anything to align itself with Leinster, over which some of its more assertive kings could harbour ambitions.


Also, in the coastal valleys and in the peninsulas of the south-west there were other peoples who could be potential allies or foes. The Uí Liatháin, east of Cork Harbour, who no doubt had significant naval capacity, served with Brian at Clontarf, as did the kings of Ciarraige Luachra in north Kerry and Corco Baiscind in Clare. On the other hand, the Uí Fhidgeinti were an important dynasty who ruled much of the present-day Co. Limerick, who had poor relations with Brian and against whom he went to war soon after his accession to power. We shall hear more about such peoples later on.


The more embellished accounts of the Battle of Clontarf also report that among those killed by Brian’s side in the encounter was the king of the Déisi, a Munster dynasty with a remote ancestral link to Brian’s. Their various branches occupied a diagonal swathe running across Munster from Waterford to, eventually, Clare. Having splintered, the eastern segment, called Déisi Muman, can be found occupying Co. Waterford and a small part of south Co. Tipperary (it was their leader who fought alongside Brian at Clontarf); the western segment, which acquired the name Déis Bec (‘Little Déis’), is the one from which Brian descends. That too ruptured with the passage of time, producing what became the lineages of the Déis Deiscirt (‘Southern Déis’) and the Déis Tuaiscirt (‘Northern Déis’), and Brian was of the latter. At some point, and certainly by the eighth century, they had breached the Shannon frontier and were in the process of acquiring their lands lying south of Slieve Aughty in east Clare. The brief notice in the annals for 744 recording ‘Destruction of Corco Mruad by the Déis (Foirddbe Corcu Mu Druadh don Deiss)’ is solid evidence of Brian’s dynasty, the Déis, making effective war on the inhabitants of north Clare, the Corco Mruad.26


Brian’s branch of the Déisi later adopted the dynastic name Dál Cais (literally, ‘the share of Cas’), first recorded in 934, shortly before Brian’s birth, at a time when they were making rapid strides in Munster at the expense of the Eóganachta. And it seems that, in a deliberate attempt to disguise their parvenu status, a learned promoter of Brian’s dynasty produced a false pedigree concealing their humble origins among the Déisi vassals of the Eóganachta; instead, as the Eóganachta were said to derive from the eponymous Eógan Már, the genealogists invented a brother of the latter called Cormac Cass and claimed that Brian’s people descended from him (table 1). Cormac Cass was made to have a descendant, about six generations later, called Cas (or Cass), son of Conall Echluaith, and this is the man from whom—it was claimed—Dál Cais took their name. This neat sleight of hand gave Brian’s dynasty a position of collateral equality with the Eóganachta. It was needed only because Dál Cais were busy trying, as it were, to become the Eóganachta, trying to take their place as the rightful kings of Cashel and Munster; and this is what propelled them onto the national stage.27


MUNSTER’S ASPIRATIONS


The kings of Munster indeed had national ambitions. When Cathal mac Finguine (died 742) of the Eóganacht Glendamnach assumed the overkingship of Munster he did not just try to restrict Uí Néill intrusion into Leth Moga (the Southern Half): he took the war to the king of Tara when he and the king of Leinster invaded the east Meath kingdom of Brega in 721. The Munster Annals of Inisfallen claim that the king of Tara submitted to him, so that a later propaganda poem includes Cathal among the five Munster kings who ‘ruled Ireland.’ In 733 he invaded Mide and came to the site of the king of Tara’s óenach at Tailtiu, defeating the Uí Néill at the symbolic hill of Tlachtga (the Hill of Ward, near Athboy), sites chosen no doubt because of their political significance. These were extraordinary testimony to Munster ambition. Indeed in 737 a rígdál took place between Cathal and the new king of Tara, Áed Allán, at Terryglass (Co. Tipperary) at which peace was declared between them (and the authority in Munster of the church of Armagh was acknowledged). Clearly Cathal was a remarkable man, and in addition to his contests with the kings of Tara his career is notable for his attempts to assert supremacy throughout Leth Moga.


Cathal was succeeded by his son or grandson Artrí, about whom the annals record that in 793 he underwent an ordination into the kingship of Munster (ordinatio Artroigh maic Cathail in regnum Mumen). This is the first time, so far as we know, that this had happened in Ireland (although Áedán mac Gabráin had long ago been ordained by Colum Cille as king of Dál Riata) and is surely evidence of an attempt by their overkings to enhance their prestige.


Indeed the next significant king of Munster, Fedelmid mac Crimthainn, was actually a cleric and was described in his obit as a scribe and anchorite, suggesting a man of learning, but it did not dim his ambitions for his kingdom. He sought to dominate Leinster and then, as the controller of Leth Moga, to compete with the king of Tara, taking part in a rígdál with him in 827. In 831 Fedelmid, with the Laigin, raided the Southern Uí Néill kingdom of Brega. In 838 he met the king of Tara, Niall Caille, in a rígdál at Clonfert (inside Leth Chuinn, the northern half), and the Munster record of the event claims that Fedelmid received the submission of Niall Caille. This record is biased in Fedelmid’s favour; if there were any truth in it it would be an astonishing development. We know that Fedelmid launched an offensive against Uí Néill in 840, setting up camp at Tara—a pointed message to the Uí Néill.


The following year Fedelmid marched into Leinster, where he seems to have intended to convene the óenach Carmain, a privilege of the king of Leinster—again evidence of exceptional Munster ambition, although in this instance the king of Tara caught up with him and gave him a bloody nose. Fedelmid also saw the potential of Armagh’s claim to primacy and tended to promote its interests, to mutual advantage; clearly he saw—as Brian was later to do—that one way of advancing his own national profile was by associating himself with Armagh’s national objectives. This explains the unusually positive obit of Fedelmid recorded in the Annals of Ulster at his death in 847, which describes him as optimus Scotorum (‘the best of the Irish’). It was a not unworthy tribute, as Fedelmid mac Crimthainn, like Cathal mac Finguine a century earlier, had shown what Munster was capable of.


Only one of his successors before Brian came close to offering a challenge to Uí Néill, and that was Cormac mac Cuilennáin (also of Eóganacht Chaisil, although remotely related, and also reputed to be in clerical orders and very learned). Having obtained the kingship of Cashel in 902, he led Munster resistance to Uí Néill demands. When the king of Tara, Flann Sinna, invaded Munster in 904 and 905 Cormac was forced to hand over hostages, but in 907 he defeated Flann at the battle of Mag Léna (near Tullamore, Co. Offaly), and the Munster annals also claim that Cormac marched north at Christmastide the same year and took the hostages of the Southern Uí Néill and the Connachta.


There may be an element of wishful thinking here, but Cormac’s threat to Uí Néill dominance was certainly real enough while it lasted. In 908 the Munster army was slaughtered by the Uí Néill forces at the battle of Ballaghmoon (near Leighlinbridge, Co. Carlow), and Munster’s king, Cormac mac Cuilennáin, lost his life in the encounter. Although his death turned out to be a landmark in the decline of the Eóganachta, as regards the power of Munster, Cormac’s career had at least demonstrated that kings of the southern province could question Uí Néill dominance. But the decline of the Eóganachta paved the way for Brian’s emergence, and Munster’s challenge resumed.28


THE HIGH-KINGSHIP


What these great and ever more inflammatory wars testify to is political ambition; and it was an ambition to hold power throughout Ireland. The Uí Néill started it. Of one of their energetic early kings, Diarmait mac Cerbaill (died 565), Adomnán of Iona had stated (writing as far back as the year 700 or thereabouts) that God had ordained him as ‘ruler of all Ireland (totius Scotiae regnatorem)’, while his son Áed Sláine (died 604) had ‘the prerogative predestined by God, the monarchy of the kingdom of all Ireland (a Deo totius Euerniae regni praerogatiuam monarchiae praedestinatam).’ Needless to say, the Uí Néill had no such predestined right, but they were more than happy to claim it. They claimed it through their possession of the kingship of Tara: because they were kings of Tara, it was said, they had rights throughout Ireland.  Thus Muirchú (the biographer of St Patrick), as earlier noted, says of one of the founding fathers of the Uí Néill, the pagan king Lóegaire, son of Niall Noígiallach, that he was ‘emperor of the barbarians, living in Tara, which was the capital of the Irish (imperator barbarorum regnans in Temoria, quae erat caput Scotorum).’ So, powerful rhetoric was flying around: Ireland was a kingdom (regnum)—indeed it was a monarchy (monarchia), and it had a capital (caput). That was the theory. The problem was putting it into practice.


We have seen that by the beginning of the Viking Age the Uí Néill had evolved a system whereby real power, to all intents and purposes, was confined to the Cenél nEógain of the north and Clann Cholmáin of the Southern Uí Néill. Both kept a tight grip on the reins of power, so that usually the succession followed in a straightforward way from father to son; and the overkingship (the kingship of Tara) rotated predictably between north and south. They did this in ever closer co-operation with the great monastic churches—especially Armagh for the Northern Uí Néill and Clonmacnoise for the Southern—which chronicled their glories and propagandised for their continuing ascent.


That concentration of political control, and the amassing of economic might that followed from it, enabled the Uí Néill to dominate the northern half of Ireland and intermittently to secure bórama (cattle-tribute) from the Leinstermen in acknowledgement of the latter’s subordination to them. And we have seen the lengths to which they went in trying to secure Munster’s submission. It was Máel Sechnaill I (died 862) who first succeeded in this great goal, startling his contemporaries when he secured the hostages of Munster in 854, 856 and 858, leading ‘the men of Ireland’ into battle and even alienating Osraige from Leth Moga to Leth Cuinn. And so it is not surprising that the high cross at Kinnitty (Co. Offaly) bears an inscription calling Máel Sechnaill RIG HERENN (‘king of Ireland’), or that the annals should call him ri h-Erenn uile (‘king of all Ireland’) at the time of his death.29 But these were partisan assertions rather than statements of undisputed fact, and other power centres sought to repudiate such claims and put forward claims of their own. Advocates of the kings of Munster in particular, it has been argued, directly expressed the superiority of the kingship of Cashel over that of Tara.30 So, while Máel Sechnaill was an extraordinary man who came closer than any of his predecessors to instituting a high-kingship of Ireland, it was a personal edifice that had to be reconstructed from the ground up by each of his successors. And by the middle of the tenth century this Uí Néill paramountcy had begun to wobble. What had seemed inevitable—that they would intensify their lordship to the point where it went unchallenged in Ireland—failed to come about. And that failure had much to do with the complications of the Viking Age.


THE VIKING ONSLAUGHT


Irish churchmen had been extraordinarily active on the Continent from the seventh century, beginning with Columbanus, one of the great figures of the early Middle Ages. Some of these Scotti vagantes (‘wandering Irish’) were certainly what we might call missionaries, although later they were teachers—men like Sedulius Scottus, the grammarian, classicist and poet, and John Scottus Eriugena, whose astonishing Greek scholarship made him the outstanding philosopher of the ninth century. Why they left Ireland, and how they went about securing positions for themselves, is shrouded in mystery, but one possibility is suggested by the chronicle known as the Annals of St-Bertin, in which it is stated of the year 848 that




the Irish, descending upon the Nordmanni [i.e. Vikings], with the help of our Lord Jesus Christ were victorious, and expelled them from their borders, and thus the king of the Irish sent ambassadors of peace and friendship with gifts to Charles [the Bald] seeking right of passage to Rome.31





As Sedulius appears on the scene out of nowhere at this very point, it is quite possible that he was among the envoys sent by the king of Tara, Máel Sechnaill I, or perhaps by Ólchobor, king of Munster (southern forces having won two major victories over the Vikings in 848), to the court of Charlemagne’s grandson. It is certainly a fact that the regular references in Sedulius’s writings to the Nordmanni suggest that he greatly feared them, and perhaps the disruptive effect of the Vikings on the schools of Ireland was a factor in his removal and that of countless other Irishmen to the Continent in this period.


The great Dícuil, one of the most original thinkers of the age, was one such. We know nothing of his Irish background, but it is unlikely to be a coincidence that he arrived on the Continent just as the Viking incursions began in his homeland, after which he managed to join the ranks of the remarkable band of scholars, many of them Anglo-Saxon and Irish, attached to Charlemagne’s court. His greatest work, completed in 825, is his De mensura orbis terrae (‘On the measurement of the earth’)—so far as we can tell, the first mediaeval geography. In it Dícuil informs his readers that Irish monks had travelled to Orkney, the Shetlands and Iceland: he states that thirty years earlier—before the Viking ‘discovery’ of Iceland—he spoke to Irish clerics who had stayed there from February to August and told him it was so bright all night around midsummer that they could pick lice from their shirts.


Dícuil personally had been to other north Atlantic islands: ‘Near the island of Britain are many islands, some large, some small, and some of medium size; some of them are situated to the south and west, but the majority are to the north-west and north. I have lived in some of them and I have visited others’—perhaps suggesting that he had been a monk in Iona.32 And he seems to have had the Faroe Islands in mind when he informs the world that ‘for nearly a hundred years hermits sailing from our country, Ireland, have lived there, but just as they [the Faroes] were always deserted from the beginning of the world, so now, because of the Northman pirates, they are emptied of anchorites, and filled with countless sheep.’33


As Dícuil is a reliable writer, there is presumably some basis to his observation; but even if it is entirely groundless his words capture the essence of contemporary reality. The purported banishment of Irish hermits from the Faroes mirrors the thoroughly negative experience of churchmen elsewhere throughout much of north-western Europe in the ninth century when faced with the violence of Viking raiding; but their replacement by sheep reminds us that this Scandinavian expansion sometimes had as much to do with farming and colonising as with raiding and warring.


We do not know why the Viking Age began when it did. Scandinavians, of course, had never been cut off from the world, and there are traces of their activities further afield long before the age of large-scale raiding began. Their earliest ambitions seem to have been towards the east and south, into what is now Russia. This involved the importing into Scandinavia, and the onward dispersal, of large quantities of precious metal (especially silver from the Islamic world), the intensive trading of furs and skins acquired in places like Finland and northern Russia, and the cornering of the market for luxury commodities, such as amber and walrus-ivory and probably slaves, and their sale to western European merchants. Certain Scandinavian rulers accumulated wealth from this trade and gained power from their position of dominance over the peoples to the east whom they exploited for such produce. Increased trade required more shipping, and increased wealth facilitated better shipping.


The earliest Viking activity was essentially piracy, and the Baltic trading networks probably fell prey to pirates who were eventually tempted to venture out from the Baltic to the North Sea. Here they were undoubtedly hitting coastal targets for some time before such raids began to be noticed by writers whose reports have come down to us, and for geographical reasons it seems reasonable to imagine that northern Britain and Ireland would have felt the brunt of raiders from what is now Norway, while Danish raiders would tend, for the most part, to concentrate their energies on southern England and the lands on each side of the English Channel.


The first recorded raid took place in 793, when the monastery founded by Irish monks on Holy Island at Lindisfarne in Northumbria was attacked, the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle telling us that ‘the ravages of heathen men miserably destroyed God’s church in Holy Island, with plunder and slaughter.’ That this was something new and unexpected is suggested by the same source’s observation that the attack was preceded by ‘dreadful forewarnings over the land of the Northumbrians, terrifying the people most woefully: these were immense sheets of light rushing through the air, and whirlwinds, and fiery dragons flying across the firmament.’34


The great English scholar Alcuin was similarly startled by the incident and wrote to the community of Lindisfarne shortly afterwards to commiserate, lamenting that




the pagans have desecrated God’s sanctuary, shed the blood of saints around the altar, laid waste the house of our hope and trampled the bodies of the saints like dung in the street. I can only cry from my heart before Christ’s altar: ‘O Lord, spare thy people and do not give the Gentiles thine inheritance, lest the heathen say, “Where is the God of the Christians?”’35





Alcuin, outraged as he was by the desecration of this holy place, thought it must be some kind of divine retribution for the victims’ sins, but he nevertheless offered to help. He was then attached to the court of Charlemagne at Aachen, and he adds:




When our lord King Charles returns from defeating his enemies, by God’s mercy, I plan to go to him, and if I can then do anything for you about the boys who have been carried off by the pagans as prisoners or about any other of your needs, I shall make every effort to see that it is done.





This shows that the Vikings had begun as they meant to go on: they were already in the business of slavery.


The raiders were back in England the following year and attacked another North Sea monastery (although this time they met stiffer resistance),36 and by now it seems that the Irish world was aware of the new crisis. We can only imagine what horror underlies the deceptively matter-of-fact remark of the writer of the Annals of Ulster for 794 in noting: ‘Devastation of all the islands of Britain by heathens.’ This speaks of something more than mere raids, rather a pervasive offensive against the inhabitants of isolated maritime communities; and if the annalist had in mind islands off Scotland’s western coast it is possible that the raiders took possession of some of these Hebridean islands, because they were venturing further south the following year.


The Viking raids on Ireland are taken to have begun in 795, as in that year Rechru was burned by the heathens and its shrines broken and plundered.37 Rechru was the Irish name for both Rathlin Island, off the Antrim coast, and Lambay, in the Irish Sea north of Dublin, and so the raid may have been on either. That it was the latter is suggested by the fact that a church on a nearby island, Inis Pátraic (St Patrick’s Island), 10 km to the north, near Skerries, was also burned by the Vikings three years later, which may show that this part of the Irish Sea had become the object of their continuing attention.


What is more, the same entry for 798 tells us that they ‘took the cattle-tribute of the territories (borime na crích do breith),’ and then that this group of Vikings made ‘great depredations in both Ireland and Scotland (innreda mara doaib cene eiter Erinn & Albain).’38 Perhaps this was no more than casual ‘rustling’ of the livestock belonging to the hapless inhabitants of the area, but it smacks of something more formal and substantial; it certainly suggests a more complicated engagement with their victims than we tend to think of in this very early stage of the Viking campaigns and, at the least, more varied activity than the proverbial smash-and-grab raiding of churches. If there were Vikings in what is now north Co. Dublin in the late eighth century exacting tribute from its inhabitants, a tribute that was handed over in the form of cattle, which had to be managed by their new owners—even if it was only in preparation for their eventual slaughter—one would have to assume that they had secured themselves a camp nearby and might be thinking of staying put.


How well it fits in with the archaeological evidence that has recently come to light from nearby Dublin, where the long-standing assumption that a Viking presence came to be felt only in the 840s, has been thrown into doubt. The skeletons of several Viking warriors found at South Great George’s Street in 2003 have been shown by radiocarbon dating to have a 95 per cent probability of dating from between AD 670 and 880 but with ‘intercept dates’ (which attempt to pinpoint the date of death) ranging between 770 and 782, while another warrior excavated in 2002 in nearby Ship Street Great produced dates ranging between 665 and 865, with an intercept date of 790.39 Another Viking burial a little distance away, at Golden Lane, has dates ranging between 678 and 832, which would suggest an intercept date (though unfortunately we do not have one) similar to the other early burials.40


These were formal burials of young warriors, who seem to have met their death in conflict and who were buried beside their camp on the banks of the Poddle River, near where it joins the Liffey; and it seems they occupied this camp and lived and died in its vicinity in the very earliest days of the Viking Age.


It is still undoubtedly true that it was Irish churches that were falling victim from the beginning to piratical crews of Scandinavians. Although the Vikings are not mentioned, presumably they were involved in the orgun (ravaging) in 795 of Colum Cille’s great monastery of Iona and of Inishmurray (off Co. Sligo) and Inishbofin (off north Connemara),41 and they are specifically stated to have been responsible for burning Iona in 802 and again in 806, when sixty-eight of its community were killed; and we know that in 807 Vikings came round the west coast and again razed Inishmurray, off Sligo, and Roscam, at the inland end of Galway Bay.


But what is clear is that concentration on such acts of violence alone cannot capture the full dimensions of Viking-Irish involvement, even at that early stage. Annals are written in churches and are concerned with the affairs of churches—and of course it was an outrage that these places of devotion and of local and regional prestige were subject to unprovoked aggression—but there was much more going on than this.


When the fleet came to the area around Skerries in 798 and so overawed the population of the adjacent districts of what is now north Co. Dublin that they agreed to the payment of a consignment of beef (bórime na crích), we are seeing war and diplomacy in operation. And when in 821 the Vikings plundered the Howth peninsula and ‘carried off into captivity a great number of women’42 they were—unless there was a now-forgotten nunnery there—attacking a farming and fishing community rather than a monastery.


The evidence points to Irish political leaders, from the start, trying to come to terms with their new enemies and struggling to ward off inroads into their people’s territory. We can surely conclude from the cryptic mention in 811 of Strages gentilium apud Ultu (‘slaughter of the heathens by the Ulaid’)43 that the latter—probably the people known as Dál Fiatach in east Co. Down—were defending their kingdom rather than a church from Scandinavian aggressors. A measure of its significance is the fact that news of it (or a similar success, probably brought by an Irish migrant scholar) reached the court of Charlemagne in Aachen and is recorded in its chronicle.44


Connemara takes its name from the Conmaicne Mara, and in 812 they were slaughtered by a Viking force that was presumably making incursions into west Galway. Just north of it the Fir Umaill occupied the area around Clew Bay, which also seems to have been the focus of Viking attentions, because in that same year the inhabitants slaughtered some Vikings but then had to do battle with them again in 813 and this time lost their king in the encounter. Also in the latter year the annals tell us that the king of the Eóganacht of Loch Léin (based, as the name suggests, around Lough Leane and the other lakes of Killarney) slaughtered the heathens in Munster. These are local kingdoms going to war to protect their territory.


Assuming that these Vikings in west Munster were linked to those active off the Connacht coast that year—having travelled all the way down the western seaboard—it would cause one to wonder about the practicality of their doing so from their Scandinavian homelands. These look more like sustained offensives made possible because the aggressors, even at this early stage, were digging themselves in in coastal camps around Ireland, such as that excavated on the banks of the Poddle in Dublin, which, as we have seen, housed the burials of Viking warriors apparently from around the 790s, or the possible Viking Age enclosure and burials that have been found beside a bend in the Ballysadare River at Knoxpark, Co. Sligo.45 The biography of St Patrick called the Tripartite Life, which may perhaps have been written about this time, says of the church of Killaspugbrone (about 10 km from Knoxpark on the Strandhill Peninsula) that Patrick prophesied that Gentilibus desereretur locus ille, which duly came to pass.46 As the phrase implies that the Gentiles (i.e. Vikings) caused the church to be deserted, it may mean that they set up camp there.


While it is assumed that there were Scandinavians occupying permanent bases in western Scotland or the Isles within a generation or so of the beginning of the Viking Age, one wonders where the heathens were based who in 824 arrived at Sceilg Mhichíl, far out in the Atlantic off the Kerry coast, and captured and killed the leader of its hermits, or those who plundered the church of Beggerin and Dairinis Chóemáin in Wexford Harbour in 821, or Cork the following year, or Inis Daimle (near Waterford) in 825, or Lismore on the River Blackwater, which was attacked twice, in 832 and 833, or Kilmolash on the Suir not far to the north, which also fell victim in 833.


In 825 they were victorious in battle against the army of Osraige, the territory bounded by the Rivers Nore and Barrow in the Co. Kilkenny area; and it seems reasonable to assume that the battle arose from Viking activity on these inland waterways, just as their overthrow of the Fortuatha Laigen in 827 points to a Viking presence in their land in the coastal area around the later town of Wicklow. Further south, in Co. Wexford, lies the monastery of Taghmon, and the following year, 828, its community joined forces with the local king of the Uí Chennselaig in inflicting a heavy defeat on Vikings. Glendalough was attacked in 834 and Ferns and Clonmore (Co. Carlow) in 835.


This concentration of Viking activity in the south-east in those years surely allows us to suppose that they had a foothold nearby; indeed when Clonmore was attacked again in 836 it was on Christmas Eve, and such midwinter raiding is surely the work of ‘local’ Vikings.47 It is possible that they were based in the great Viking encampment that has recently been discovered by archaeologists at Woodstown in Waterford Harbour.48 Another possibility is an island in Wexford Harbour, especially given the fact of the attacks there in 821, suggested by the mention in the Tripartite Life of Patrick, written about this time, that shrines from ‘the lesser island’ there had been moved elsewhere, ‘since it was taken by the heathens (iarnagabail dogentib).’49


But proof of a Viking base in the vicinity comes to light only for the year 836. For the first time since the Viking campaigns began, the annals name the site of one of their camps when they tell us that in this year the great monastery of Kildare was plundered by ‘heathens from Inber Dée,’ which is probably Arklow.50


By this time there were undoubtedly other bases around the coast—and many more were soon to follow—and the establishment of one such encampment in the Shannon Estuary is surely the context for the great victory over Viking forces obtained in 834 by the Uí Fidgente, a dynasty that controlled much of Co. Limerick; one imagines the magnificent chalices and brooches found at Ardagh in the heart of Uí Fidgente territory being anxiously buried in circumstances such as this.51 The following year the monastery of Mungret, just south-west of what would become the city of Limerick, found itself under assault by Vikings, along with other churches of west Munster, just as the enchanting monastic island of Inis Celtra on Lough Derg to the north of Limerick was to do in 837. Evidently the Foreigners were functioning out of a centre of operations in the locality, and this was bound to have a traumatic effect on the whole region; quite how traumatic was demonstrated by a battle fought in 836 that resulted in the slaughter of the army of the Déis Tuaiscirt. This was the dynasty of Brian Bóraime.


THE IMPACT OF THE VIKINGS


In the early decades after their first descent on Ireland in the 790s the Vikings had perpetrated raids on coastal sites; and, while they are found looting the larger churches in particular, we can guess that they were also trying to secure a foothold in remoter outposts with a view to winning land. But, to judge from the epigrammatic documentary evidence, it was only in the 830s that Ireland, like England and the western territories of the Carolingian empire, was exposed to intensive Scandinavian assault. They began by raiding Leinster and Southern Uí Néill territory in Brega, and they had fleets operating on the Boyne, the Liffey, the Shannon, the Erne, and Lough Neagh, where they overwintered in 840/41. And it was in 841 that they built a longphort (ship-camp) at Dublin and another one at Linn Duachaill (Annagassan, Co. Louth), followed soon afterwards by an encampment on Lough Ree, from which bases they were able to wreak devastation over a wide area. In 845 they captured the abbot of Armagh himself and ‘brought him to the ships of the Shannon Estuary (a brith do longaibh Luimnigh)’, which may mean that they already had a base at or near Limerick.
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